
SETTLEMENT AGREEMENT BETWEEN 

MISSOURI DENTAL BOARD AND 


STEVEN HRIBERNIK, D.M.D. 


Comes now Steven Hribernik, D.M.D. ("Licensee") and .the Missouri Dental Board 

("Board") and enter into this settlement agreement for the purpose of resolving the question 

of whether Licensee's license as a dentist will be subject to discipline. 

Pursuant to the terms of 8 536.060, RSMo 2000, the parties hereto waive the right to a 

hearing by the Administrative Hearing Commission of the State of Missouri ("AHC") 

regarding cause to discipline the Licensee's license, and, additionally, the right to a 

disciplinary hearing before the Board under 8 621.110, RSMo 2000. 

Licensee acknowledges that he understands the various rights and privileges afforded 

him by law, including the right to a hearing of the charges against him; the right to appear 

and be represented by legal counsel; the right to have all charges against him proven upon the 

record by competent and substantial evidence; the right to cross-examine any witnesses 

appearing at the hearing against him; the right to present evidence on his own behalf at the 

hearing; the right to a decision upon the record by a fair and impartial administrative hearing 

commissioner concerning .the charges pend.ing against him and, subsequently, the right to a 

disciplinary hearing before the Board at which time he may present evidence in mitigation of 

discipline; and the right to recover attorney's fees incurred in defending this action against 

his license. Being aware of these rights provided him by operation of law, Licensee 



knowingly and voluntarily waives each and every one of these rights and freely enters into 

this settlement agreement and agrees to abide by the terms of this document, as they pertain 

to him. 

Licensee acknowledges that he has received a copy of the investigative report and 

other documents relied upon by the Board in determining there was cause to discipline his 

license, along with citations to law and/or regulations the Board believes was violated. 

For the purpose of settling this dispute, Licensee stipulates that the factual allegations 

contained in this settlement agreement are true and stipulates with the Board that Licensee's 

license, numbered 0 15277, is subject to disciplinary action by the Board in accordance with 

the provisions of Chapter 621 and Chapter 332, RSMo. 

1. The Missouri Dental Board ("Board") is an agency of the State of Missouri created 

and established pursuant to 5 332.021, RSMo 2000, for the purpose of executing and enforcing 

the provisions of Chapter 332. 

2. Steven Hribernik ("Licensee") is licensed by the Board as a dentist, License 

No. 01 5277. Licensee's Missouri license was at all times relevant herein, and is now, current 

and active. 

3. Licensee practices dentistry at 991 1 Kennerly Road, Suite E, St. Louis, Missouri 

(the St. Louis office) and 1155 East Gannon, Festus, Missouri (the Festus office). 

4. Licensee registered both his St. Louis and his Festus offices with a registration from 

the Missouri Department of Health and Senior Services, Bureau of Narcotics and Dangerous 
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Drugs to stock, prescribe, administer, and dispense controlled substances; however, he only had 

a Drug Enforcement Administration registration number at the St. Louis office. On or about 

February 3, 2009, he closed his BNDD Registration and on or about February 6, 2009, he 

voluntarily surrendered his DEA Registration. 

5.  At a date certain known only to Dr. Hribernik, Dr. Hribernlk began prescribing 

Hydrocodone products which are controlled substances to various members of his family and 

others for non dental related symptoms; personally picking up the medications from various 

pharmacies and then consuming the medication himself. Sometimes, the prescriptions would be 

telephoned to a pharmacy. 

6. Dr. Hribernik also used another dentist's name and controlled substance registration, 

without the dentist's knowledge or authorization, to issue fraudulent prescriptions in the names 

of family members, which he then consumed himself. 

7. On or about January 15, 2009, Dr. Hribernik reported to Board Investigator 

Dudenhoeffer that he was abusing his prescription controlled substances and requested 

assistance with chemical dependency treatment. Following Dr. Hribernik's report, he 

immediately sought assistance from the Missouri Dental Board's Well-Being Committee and 

also sought in-patient chemical dependency treatment. Licensee's treatment providers 

diagnosed him with a substance abuse disorder, specifically narcotic abuse and dependence, 

("the disorder") to such an extent that Licensee's disorder constitutes the use of a controlled 

substance, as defined in chapter 195, RSMo, to such an extent that such use impairs his ability 

to perform the work of a dentist. 



8. Pursuant to 5 195.017, RSMo 2000, hydrocodone is a controlled substance. 

9. Licensee's above-mentioned conduct constitutes a violation of 5 195.202.1, RSMo 

2000, which states: "Except as authorized by sections 195.005 to 195.425, it is unlawhl for any 

person to possess or have under his control a controlled substance." 

10. Dr. Hribernik's above-mentioned conduct constitutes a violation of 195.204.1, 

RSMo and 105.050.4, RSMo and 19 CSR 30- 1.03 1 (I), in that he obtained controlled substances 

in bad faith and by fraud. 

1 1. On or about February 3,2009, BNDD presented at Licensee's Festus office for an 

inspection. Because it lacked a DEA registration number, the Festus office was not properly 

registered. Licensee had transferred stocked controlled substances from his St. Louis office to 

his Festus office and therefore, as to his Festus office he stocked controlled substances at an 

unregistered location in violation of 2 1 CFR 13 0 1.12(a); failed to maintain a controlled drug 

transfer records in violation of section 195.050.6, RSMo; failed to maintain an initial or annual 

inventory of controlled substances in violation 195.050.6, RSMo and 19 CSR 30-1.042(2)(3) 

and failed to maintain a complete and current controlled drug records in violation of 19 CSR 30- 

1.044(1). Three vials of Ketamine were improperly stored in an unlocked refrigerator and 

therefore not secured as required by law. 

12. On or about August 6,2010 ,Dr. Hribernik pleaded guilty to three misdemeanor 

counts of fraudulently attempting to obtain a controlled substance, in the Circuit Court of St. 

Louis County, Case No. 09SL-CR08526. Dr. Hribernik received a suspended execution of 

sentence and was placed on two years of supervised probation with the requirement what he 



complete community service and follow treatment as directed for rehabilitation. Fraudulently 

attempting to obtain a controlled substance is an offense reasonably related to the qualifications, 

functions or duties of a dentist and has an essential element of fraud, dishonesty and is an 

offense involving moral turpitude. 

13. Licensee's above-mentioned conduct constitutes a violation of professional trust or 

confidence. 

14. Cause exists for Petitioner to take disciplinary action against Licensee's license 

under 5 332.321.2(1), (2), (5) (13), (14), and (20) RSMo 2000, which states in pertinent part: 

2. The board may cause a complaint to be filed with the 
administrative hearing commission as provided by chapter 621, 
RSMo, against any holder of any certificate of registration or 
authority, permit or license required by this chapter or any person 
who has failed to renew or has surrendered his certificate of 
registration or authority, permit or license for any one or any 
combination of the following causes: 

(1) Use of any controlled substance, as 
defined in chapter 195, RSMo, or alcoholic beverage 
to an extent that such use impairs a person's ability to 
perform the work of any profession licensed or 
regulated by this chapter; 

(2) The person has been finally adjudicated 
and found guilty, or entered a plea of guilty or nolo 
contendere, in a criminal prosecution pursuant to the 
laws of any state or of the United States, for any 
offense reasonably related to the qualifications, 
functions or duties of any profession licensed or 
regulated pursuant to this chapter, for any offense an 
essential element of which is fraud, dishonesty or an 
act of violence, or any offense involving moral 
turpitude, whether or not sentence is imposed; 



(5) Incompetency, misconduct, gross 
negligence, fraud, misrepresentation or dishonesty in 
the performance of, or relating to one's ability to 
perform, the functions or duties of any profession 
licensed or regulated by this chapter; 

(13) Violation of any professional trust or 
confidence; 

. . . 
(14) Violation of the drug laws or rules and 

regulations of this state, any other state or the federal 
government. 

. . . 
(20) Being unable to practice as a dentist, 

specialist or hygienist with reasonable skill and 
safety to patients by reasons of professional 
incompetency, or because of illness, drunkenness, 
excessive use of drugs, narcotics, chemicals, or as a 
result of any mental or physical condition. 

Based upon the foregoing, the parties mutually agree and stipulate that the following 

shall constitute the disciplinary order entered by the Board in this matter under the authority of 5 

621.045.3, RSMo: 

1. The terms of discipline shall include that Licensee's dental license numbered 

015277 be placed on PROBATION for a period of five (5) years ("disciplinary period"). 

During the disciplinary period, Licensee shall be entitled to engage in the practice of dentistry 

under Chapter 332, RSMo, provided he adheres to all of the terms of this Settlement Agreement. 

The terms of the probation shall be: 



I. 	 REQUIREMENTS REGARDING CONTINUING EDUCATION 

Jurisprudence Exam 

A. Licensee shall take and pass the Board's designated jurisprudence 
examination within six (6) months of the start of the disciplinary period. 
Licensee shall contact the Board office to request a current law packet and 
permission to sit for the jurisprudence examination no less than thirty (30) 
days prior to the date Licensee desires to take the examination. Licensee 
shall submit the required re-examination fee to the Board prior to taking the 
examination. Failure to take and pass the examination during the first six 
(6) months of the disciplinary period shall constitute a violation of this 
Agreement. 

11. LICENSEE SHALL NOT POSSESS AN INDIVIDUAL SEDATION 
PERMIT DURING THE DISCIPLINARY PERIOD. 

111. REQUIREMENTS REGARDING THE MISSOURI DENTAL WELL- 
BEING COMMITTEE 

A. 	 During the disciplinary period, Licensee shall participate in the Missouri 
Dental Well-being Committee ("Committee"). Within fifteen (15) days of 
the effective date of this agreement, Licensee shall cause the Committee to 
send written notification to the Missouri Dental Board, P.O. Box 1367, 
Jefferson City, Missouri 65102, confirming that Licensee has joined the 
program. Licensee shall also direct the Committee to forward an evaluation 
report to the Board detailing the treating professional's findings, 
specification of DSM IV diagnosisles, prognosis, and treatment 
recommendations within 15 days of entering this agreement. Licensee shall 
follow all recommendations for treatment or aftercare made by the treating 
professional andlor Committee. 

B. Licensee shall execute a medical release or other appropriate release that shall 
remain in effect for the entire disciplinary period authorizing the Board to obtain records 
of Licensee's treatment for chemical dependency. Licensee shall not take 



any action to cancel this release. Licensee shall take any and all steps necessary 
to continue the release in effect and shall provide a new release when requested. 

C. 	 Licensee shall cause a letter of ongoing treatment evaluation from the treating 
professional to be submitted to the Board by January 1 and July 1 during each 
year of the disciplinary period beginning the effective date of this disciplinary 
agreement. 

(1) The letter shall include an evaluation of Licensee's 
current progress and status related to the treatment 
recommendationslplan and Licensee's current prognosis and 
treatment recommendationslplan. 

(2) The letter shall be sent by the treating professional 
andor the Committee addressed to: Missouri Dental Board, 
P.O. Box 1367, Jefferson City, Missouri 65102. 

D. 	 If the treatment of Licensee is successfully completed at any time during the 
disciplinary period, Licensee shall cause the treating professional andor the 
Committee to submit a letter of final evaluationJsummary that includes a 
statement that Licensee has successfully completed treatment and indicates 
whether Licensee should continue in a 12-step program. If continuance in a 12- 
step program is recommended, Licensee shall comply with terms of 
documentation as outlined in paragraph E below. 

E. 	 If attendance is recommended, Licensee shall submit evidence of weekly (or 
recommended) attendance at Alcoholics Anonymous, Narcotics Anonymous, or 
other support group meetings to the Board by January 1 and July 1 during each 
year of the disciplinary period beginning the effective date of this disciplinary 
agreement. The documentation shall include the date, time and place of the 
meeting and shall bear a signature or abbreviated signature of another person 
verifying attendance. 

F. 	 During the disciplinary period, Licensee shall abstain completely from the 
personal use or possession of any controlled substance or other drug for which a 
prescription is required unless that use of the drug has been prescribed by a 
person licensed to prescribe such drug and with whom Licensee has a bona-fide 
relationship as a patient. Licensee shall forward to the Board written 
documentation of any such prescription within ten (10) days of issuance of the 
prescription specifying the medication prescribed, dosage prescribed, and .the 
condition for which the substance was prescribed. Upon request, Licensee shall 



execute a medical release authorizing the Board to access all records pertaining to 
Licensee's condition, treatment and prescription maintained by .the health care 
professional that prescribed the controlled substance. 

G. 	 During the disciplinary period, Licensee shall abstain completely from the use or 
consumption of alcohol. The presence of any alcohol whatsoever in a biological 
fluid sample shall constitute a violation of Licensee's discipline. 

IV. 	 RANDOM DRUG SCREENS 

A. 	 During the disciplinary period, Licensee shall, at Licensee's expense, submit to 
drug screens as required by the Board. Licensee shall, upon demand and without 
delay, provide a biological sample to the Board's designated representative, 
including allowing the Board's designated representative to obtain witnessed 
biological fluid samples and shall cooperate fully and completely with the Board's 
designated representative in providing such samples. The presence of any 
controlled substance, alcohol, or any drug whatsoever in a drug screen for which 
Licensee does not hold a valid prescription shall constitute a violation of this 
Agreement. 

V. 	 GENERAL REQUIREMENTS 

A. 	 Licensee shall meet with the Board or its representatives at such times and places 
as required by the Board after notification of a required meeting. 

B. 	 Licensee shall submit reports to the Missouri Dental Board, P.O. Box 1367, 
Jefferson City, Missouri 65 102, stating truthfully whether he has complied with 
all the terms and conditions of this Settlement Agreement by no later than 
January 1 and July 1 during each year of the disciplinary period. 

C. 	 Licensee shall keep the Board apprised of his current home and work addresses 
and telephone numbers. Licensee shall inform the Board within ten days of any 
change of home or work address and home or work telephone number. 

C. 	 Licensee shall comply with all provisions of the Dental Practice Act, Chapter 
332, RSMo; all applicable federal and state drug laws, rules, and regulations; and 
all federal and state criminal laws. "State" here includes the state of Missouri and 
all other states and territories of the United States. 



D. 	 During the disciplinary period, Licensee shall timely renew his license and timely 
pay all fees required for licensing and comply with all other board requirements 
necessary to maintain Licensee's license in a current and active state. 

E. 	 If at any time during the disciplinary period, Licensee removes himself from the 
state of Missouri, ceases to be currently licensed under the provisions of Chapter 
332, or fails to advise the Board of his current place of business and residence, 
the time of his absence, unlicensed status, or unknown whereabouts shall not be 
deemed or taken as any part of the time of discipline so imposed in accordance 
with § 332.321.9, RSMo. 

F. 	 During the disciplinary period, Licensee shall accept and comply with 
unannounced visits from the Board's representatives to monitor his compliance 
with the terms and conditions of this Settlement Agreement. 

G. 	 If Licensee fails to comply with the terms of this Settlement Agreement, in any 
respect, the Board may impose such additional or other discipline that it deems 
appropriate, including revocation. 

H. 	 This Settlement Agreement does not bind the Board or restrict the remedies 
available to it concerning any other violation of Chapter 332, RSMo, by Licensee 
not specifically mentioned in this document. 

VI. 	 ADDITIONAL REQUIREMENTS 

A. 	 Licensee shall not allow his license to lapse. 

B. 	 The terms of discipline apply even if Licensee places his license on inactive 
status. 

C. 	 Licensee shall notify, within 15 days of the effective date of this Settlement 
Agreement, all hospitals, nursing homes, out-patient centers, surgical centers, 
clinics, and all other facilities where Licensee practices or has privileges of 
Licensee's disciplinary status. Notification shall be in writing and Licensee shall, 
contemporaneously with the giving of such notice, submit a copy of the notice to 
the Board for verification by the Board or its designated representative. 



2. The parties to this Agreement understand that the Missouri Dental Board will 

maintain this Agreement as an open record of the Board as provided in Chapters 324,332,610, 

RSMo. 

3. Upon the expiration of said discipline, Licensee's license to practice dentistry in 

Missouri shall be fully restored if all other requirements of law have been satisfied; provided 

however, that in the event the Board determines that the Licensee has violated any term or 

condition of this Settlement Agreement, the Board may, in its discretion, after an evidentiary 

hearing, vacate and set aside the discipline imposed herein and may suspend, revoke or 

otherwise lawfully discipline the Licensee. 

4. No order shall be entered by the Board pursuant to the preceding paragraph of this 

Settlement Agreement without notice and an opportunity for hearing before the Board in 

accordance with the provisions of Chapter 536, RSMo. 

5 .  If the Board determines that Licensee has violated a term or condition of this 

Settlement Agreement, which violation would also be actionable in a proceeding before the 

Administrative Hearing Commission or the circuit court, the Board may elect to pursue any 

lawful remedies or procedures afforded it and is not bound by this Settlement Agreement in its 

determination of appropriate legal actions concerning that violation. If any alleged violation of 

this Settlement Agreement occurred during the disciplinary period, the Board may choose to 

conduct a hearing before it either during the disciplinary period, or as soon thereafter as a 

hearing can be held to determine whether a violation occurred and, if so, it may impose further 



discipline. The Board retains jurisdiction to hold a hearing to determine if a violation of this 

Settlement Agreement has occurred. 

6. The terms of this settlement agreement are contractual, legally enforceable, and 

binding, not merely recital. Except as otherwise provided herein, neither this settlement 

agreement nor any of its provisions may be changed, waived, discharged, or terminated, except 

by an instrument in writing signed by the party against whom the enforcement of the change, 

waiver, discharge, or termination is sought. If Licensee desires to request any amendment to 

this agreement, the Licensee must make the request in writing to the Board and the request will 

be reviewed by the Board and decided upon during a regularly scheduled meeting. No change 

will become effective until the Board issues an amendment, in writing, to this Agreement. 

7. Licensee, together with his heirs and assigns, and his attorneys, do hereby waive, 

release, acquit and forever discharge the Board, its respective members and any of its 

employees, agents, or attorneys, including any former Board members, employees, agents, and 

attorneys, of, or from, any liability, claim, actions, causes of action, fees, costs and expenses, 

and compensation, including, but not limited to, any claims for attorney's fees and expenses, 

including any claims pursuant to 5 536.087, RSMo, or any claim arising under 42 U.S.C. 5 

1983, which may be based upon, arise out of, or relate to any of the matters raised in this case, 

its settlement, or from the negotiation or execution of this settlement agreement. The parties 

acknowledge that this paragraph is severable from the remaining portions of this settlement 

agreement in that it survives in perpetuity even in the event that any court of law deems this 

settlement agreement or any portion thereof to be void or unenforceable. 



8. Licensee understands that he may, either at the time the Settlement Agreement is 

signed by all parties, or within fifteen (15) days thereafter, submit the Agreement to the 

Administrative Hearing Commission for determination that the facts agreed to by the parties 

constitute grounds for disciplining Licensee's license. If Licensee desires the Administrative 

Hearing Commission to review this Agreement, Licensee may submit his request to: 

Administrative Hearing Commission, Truman State Ofice Building, Room 640,301 W. 

High Street, P. 0 .  BOX 1557, Jefferson City, Missouri 65101. 

9. If Licensee requests review, this Settlement Agreement shall become effective on 

the date the Administrative Hearing Commission issues its order finding that the Settlement 

Agreement sets forth cause for disciplining Licensee's license. If Licensee does not request 

review by the Administrative Hearing Commission, the Settlement Agreement goes into effect 

fifteen (1 5) days after the document is signed by the Executive Director of the Board. 

LICENSEE BOARD 

Executive Director 
Missouri Dental Board 

Date / / / Z9 / 1 0  




